IN THE SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 87,175

PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P.

Appellant,

v.

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION and
THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellees,

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS
OF
PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P.

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER OF THE
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq.

Florida Bar No. 022730

David L. Ross, Esq.

Florida Bar No. 270954

Charles M. Auslander, Esq.

Florida Bar No. 349747

Joe N. Unger, Esq.

Florida Bar No. 082987

Greenberg, Traurig, Hoffman,

Lipoff, Rosen & Quentel, P.A.

1221 Brickell Avenue

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 579-0500

Counsel for Panda-Kathleen, L.P.

INTRODUCTION

This case involves an attempt by Florida Power Corporation (Florida Power) to escape its obligations under a standard offer contract to purchase electric power from Panda-Kathleen L.P. (Panda). Florida Power raised two spurious contractual issues in declaratory proceedings brought before the Florida Public Service Commission (Commission). These proceedings were used in an attempt to derail Panda's ability to perform under the contract. Florida Power's actions were motivated by an acknowledged desire that Panda not build a power plant because Florida Power determined, more than two years after signing the Panda contract, that the arrangement was no longer economically beneficial,

There are three issues to be addressed: (1) whether there was jurisdiction for the Commission to review the contract previously entered into by the parties; and **if** there was such jurisdiction; (2) whether the facility that Panda plans to build to meet its 74.9 megawatt Committed Capacity obligations under the Panda/Florida Power standard offer contract violates the contract; and (3) whether Panda is entitled to capacity payments for the full term of the contract.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is an appeal **by** Panda from a final decision of the Commission relating to the service of a utility providing electricity. Art. V, §3(b)(2), Fla. Const., § 366.10; Fla. Stat (1995); and Fla. R. App. **P. 9.030** (a)(1)(A)(ii). The action was commenced at the Commission when Florida Power filed a request for a declaratory statement approximately four years after entering into a contract with Panda, seeking a determination that the plant designed by Panda pursuant to that contract violated the Commission's rules and the parties' contract, (R. 1-5). Florida Power contended that the facility designed by Panda should not be built and that Florida Power, despite the thirty year term **of** the contract, was obligated only to make "capacity" payments to Panda for twenty years, (*Id.*).

Panda moved to dismiss the proceeding, urging that the Commission's jurisdiction was preempted by federal law, meaning that it could not hear this long-after-the-fact challenge to the performance of the contract. (R, **449-475**). Following denial **of** that motion (R. 1259-

1268), Panda pursued certiorari relief before the Court. That petition remained pending while the Commission proceeded to conduct an evidentiary hearing and ultimately entered its final order. (R. 1597).¹ In the alternative to dismissal, Panda sought a determination from the Commission that its plant design conformed to the contract and that the contract called for thirty years of capacity payments. (R. 154-183.) Panda additionally sought an extension of its construction commencement and in-service dates, based on the fact that Florida Power's institution of proceedings before the Commission had effectively halted Panda's efforts to secure equipment and financing. (R. 182-183).

In the final order now appealed, the Commission determined that Panda's proposed facility did not comply with provisions of its rules and that Florida Power was responsible for payments to Panda only for twenty years. (R. 1597-1629). The Commission did, however, extend the "milestone" dates for Panda's facility, and later corrected a scrivener's error in its final order that had resulted in a miscalculation of that extension. (R. 1668).

1. Background of Proceedings

A. The initial approval of the standard offer contract.

In 1978, Congress enacted comprehensive legislation, including the Public Utilities Regulatory Policies Act of 1978 ("PURPA") to make the nation more energy independent. 16 U.S.C. §§ 823(a), *et seq.* (1995). This legislation encouraged cogenerators and small power producers (known as "qualifying facilities" or "QFs") to produce electricity and required utilities such as Florida Power to purchase the energy. In order to be a "qualifying facility" under PURPA and the Federal Power Act, 16 U.S.C. § 796(18)(B), a cogenerator must meet certain minimum size and output restrictions.² It is undisputed that Panda is a qualifying

¹ The Court issued an order to show cause directing a response to the petition for a writ of certiorari from Florida Power. Panda, however, withdrew its petition in order to pursue the federal preemption issue jointly with other issues on final appeal.

² Title 16 U.S.C. § 796(18)(B) defines "qualifying cogeneration facility" for these purposes as one which

(i) the [Federal Energy Regulatory Commission] determines, by rule, meets such requirements (including requirements respecting minimum size, fuel use and fuel efficiency) as the Commission may, by rule, prescribe; and

(ii) is owned by a person not primarily engaged in the generation or sale of

(continued . . .)

facility.³ As more fully set forth below, a principal premise adopted by PURPA to encourage the generation of power by QFs is to exempt them from ongoing utility-type regulation by traditional state regulatory authorities, 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(e)(1). States are provided a limited role under PURPA, to implement its purpose by authorizing contracts between utilities and Qualifying Facilities. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(f).

In early 1991, Florida Power sought to purchase power from QFs by both of the two alternate contracting methodologies established by Commission rule to implement PURPA's design. (T.81-82); Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-17.0832(2), (3). Those two methodologies are classified as the "negotiated contract" and the "standard offer contract." (*Id.*). To that end, Florida Power submitted for Commission approval a standard offer contract form. (Ex. 5). By Commission rule, the standard offer contract signed and submitted by any qualifying facility must be accepted by the utility unless it affirmatively seeks permission of the Commission to reject the contract. The standard offer contract must offer to purchase electricity from cogenerators at full avoided cost. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-17-0832(3)(b).

In addition to the use of standard offer contracts, the Commission's regulations authorize utilities to enter directly into negotiations with QFs for the purchase of power. Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-17.0832(2). Under the "negotiated contract" rule, the rate paid to the QF cannot be more, but may be less, than the full avoided cost. Any contract resulting from such negotiations must be reviewed and approved by the Commission. (*Id.*).

The 1991 standard offer contract utilized by Florida Power to send to Panda was substantially similar to the negotiated contracts that Florida Power executed in 1991 with numerous QFs in response to a Request for Proposal. (T. 82, 229-230; Ex. 23). Florida Power actually required any QF with which it "negotiated" an agreement to execute essentially the same

(continued . . .)

electric power (other than electric power solely from cogeneration facilities or small power production facilities);

³ Under PURPA, FERC has exclusive jurisdiction to determine whether a facility qualifies as a QF.

form contract (T.82-86). The procedural difference in the two circumstances is that a standard offer contract is first approved by the Commission before acceptance by a QF, and a negotiated contract is approved subsequent to execution by the parties. (T. 81-82). In the case of the standard offer contract, after the “blanks” are filled in and it is signed by the parties, it is submitted again to the Commission. (T. 91-92).

The standard offer contract form for which Florida Power sought and received approval from the Commission contained several blanks which had to be completed by prospective QFs, including the two contract terms which are now the subject of the dispute in this case: (1) the amount of power that the QF (in this case, Panda) would be obligated to provide to the utility as “Committed Capacity, ” and (2) the duration of the QF’s obligation to provide the Committed Capacity (and Florida Power’s obligation to make payments) under the contract. (Ex. 30 at ¶¶ 4.1, 7.1). Incorporated into the standard offer contract are formulas for the computation of the payments to the QF, and illustrations for the use of those formulas. (Ex. 30 at ¶ 8.3; Ex. 30; Schedule C). The contract form submitted to Panda and other prospective QFs expressly limited them to choosing a Committed Capacity of less than 75 MW. (“The availability of this Agreement is subject to: . . . the Facility having a Committed Capacity which is less than 75,000 KW [equivalent to 75 MW]”; Ex. 30 at ¶ 2.1.2). (Wherever possible, the word “megawatts” will be abbreviated “MW”.) The form, however, did not address the net maximum generating capacity of the facility.

In August 1991, the Commission reviewed and approved Florida Power’s form of standard offer contract (as well as standard offer contracts submitted by other electric utilities). (Ex. 7). In rendering its approval of that form, the Commission specifically held that a “regulatory out” clause should not be included in the standard offer contract submitted by Florida Power. (Ex. 7 at pp. 70-71). This clause, which had previously been authorized by the Commission in QF/utility negotiated contracts, was the only one that would have allowed the Commission during the term of an existing contract to impose an alteration of the terms of the contract or the rates that the utility would have to pay based upon changed circumstances.

(*Id.*).

B. The open season and the execution of the contracts.

Following the Commission's approval of the standard offer contract form, Florida Power sent copies of the standard offer contract to interested QFs, and declared a two-week "open season" for any QF to execute and return the contract. (Ex. 7 at p. 1). By the close of that period, Florida Power had received ten executed standard offer contracts, including one from Panda. (Ex. 8). In executing the standard offer contract, Panda filled in the blanks with a "Committed Capacity" of 74,900 kilowatts (equal to 74.9 megawatts) and a contract term of 30 years. (Ex. 30 at ¶ 7.1; ¶ 4.1).

The contract provides for two methods of payment to Panda. First, Panda is paid a "capacity payment" for the amount of "Committed Capacity" that Panda offered to provide, in this case 74.9 MW. (Ex. 30 at ¶¶ 8.2-8.5). Committed Capacity refers to the amount of electricity that Panda is obligated to provide to Florida Power's transmission grid at all times, regardless of environmental conditions: "The Committed Capacity shall be made available at the Point of Delivery from the Contract In-Service Date through the remaining Term of this Agreement." (Ex. 30 at ¶ 7.1).

The contract provides that Florida Power, throughout the life of the contract, has the right to require Panda to demonstrate that it is, in fact, providing 74.9 MW "*or more*" at the delivery point defined therein. (Emphasis supplied; Ex. 30, ¶¶ 7.4, 1.8). The contract further provides that Panda must make the Committed Capacity available to Florida Power throughout the term of the contract, and Florida Power is obligated to pay for it. (Ex. 30, ¶ 6.1).

The "capacity payment" constitutes remuneration to Panda for the outlay of capital required to build and maintain a plant that is capable of producing the minimum of 74.9 MW whenever needed under any conditions over the life of the contract, whether or not Florida Power at any given moment needs to use that amount. (Ex. 30, ¶¶ 8.2-8.5). (The plant was not intended to operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, but rather to be available at 74.9 MW whenever needed. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 8.3, 8.4).) No capacity payment is made for any electricity

generated above 74.9 MW. (*Id.*, ¶ 6. 1). In addition to capacity payments, however, Panda is to be paid for *all* of ~~the~~ actual electrical energy that ~~the~~ Panda plant actually provides to Florida Power, under certain alternate rate schemes as set out in the contract, which generally reflected standard “as available”, or “firm avoided energy rates” that Florida Power would have encountered in buying power from any source, (Ex. 30; ¶¶ 9.1-9.2).

C. The selection of the Panda contract.

The committed power supply that would have been provided by the ten executed contracts received by Florida Power at the close of the open season was well in excess of the amount that Florida Power was seeking. (T. 92, L. 14-18). As a result, Florida Power began a process of choosing which standard offer contract it wanted to utilize. Florida Power prepared a report rating ~~the~~ standard offer contracts it received, and filed that report with the Commission. (Ex. 8). Several of the competing bidders other than Panda submitted contracts with 30 year terms, and some bidders proposed plant designs in excess of 75 MW of net generating capacity, to be distinguished from the Committed Capacity that the contract expressly defined. (Ex. 8 at pp. 13, 15; T. 558).

The Florida Power report (which repeatedly recited that Panda had submitted a contract with a thirty year term, and Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW) ranked Panda’s contract submission as the best in terms of feasibility and benefit to ratepayers. (Ex. 8; pp. 1, 2, 15, 19). Florida Power did not seek to disqualify any of the proposals on the grounds that generating capacity was in excess of 75 MW, or on the grounds that a term in excess of twenty years constituted a violation of Commission rules, (T.97-99). Florida Power knew ~~that~~ several of ~~the~~ facilities proposed in response to the standard offer contract were capable of generating in excess of 75 MW. (One proposal had an expressed net generating capacity of 85.442 MW). (T. 96- 97). None of those bids was rejected by Florida Power for exceeding 75 MW in capacity, nor did Florida Power raise this issue in seeking approval from the Commission to reject all contracts except Panda’s (T. 98- 99). Florida Power’s witness Robert Dolan recalled that one competing bidder was told to amend its proposed *Committed*

Capacity from in excess of 75 MW, and the bidder responded with a proposed 74.999 MW of Committed Capacity. (T. 95). Indeed, the “size” characteristic for evaluating the competing proposed projects was defined expressly as “[t]he capacity committed to in the contract, ” (Ex. 8 at p. 11). There was no factor at all requested for the submitted proposals that addressed total generation of a facility. Instead, it was the proposed Committed Capacity that was related to the Commission’s rule and to the subscription limit of 80 MW that was of interest to Florida Power for its power needs. (*Id.* ; pp. 11 et seq.).

Florida Power petitioned the Commission for permission to reject all of the standard offer contracts it had received, ***except the one received from Panda, because of its superior ranking***. (Ex. 8). The Commission approved Florida Power’s petition to reject all standard offer contracts except Panda’s, over the objection of at least one of the competing bidders. (Ex. 10). In that same order, the Commission formally approved Panda’s contract with Florida Power which included terms calling for a 74.9 MW Committed Capacity and a 30 year contract period. (*Id.*). In approving the Panda contract, the Commission expressed the view that “Florida Power Corporation acted in the best interests of the ratepayers to select the contract which after a comparative evaluation was deemed by FPC to be the best available. ” (Ex. 10; p. 3).

II. The size of the facility.

From the outset of this transaction, Panda made clear that it proposed to build a facility that would generate in excess of 74.9 MW, (T. 283). The initial tentative Panda design, submitted with the contract, was for a facility that could generate 85 - 95 MW - under standard industry design environmental conditions known as “ISO,” (59°F temperature and 60% humidity), (T.106, 283, 556, 559). In 1992, after the contract was signed, Panda began the detailed process of planning, designing and seeking financing for its facility. Pursuant to its contractual obligation to keep Florida Power apprised of its engineering design (Ex. 30 at ¶ 3.5), Panda on several occasions informed Florida Power that it intended to construct a plant with a designed maximum capacity of 115 MW at ISO conditions, in order to meet its 74.9

MW Committed Capacity obligations under the contract. (T. 294, 308, 392-94, 398).

J. Brian Dietz, director of engineering and operations for Panda, testified without equivocation that in order to provide to Florida Power a Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW, at all times, under all conditions, and to comply with Florida emission standards that changed after the contract had been signed, Panda would be required to construct a plant with a maximum total capacity well in excess of the 74.9 MW Committed Capacity. (T. 304-6). Dietz was personally responsible for Panda's engineering decisions in planning the plant, and it was his professional judgment that led Panda to conclude that a plant design that could meet its 74.9 MW Committed Capacity obligations under all conditions had to have a minimum design total net capacity of at least 100 MW. (T. 312). Numerous external factors, such as temperature and humidity, transmission line losses and facility aging severely effect the output of any plant. (T. 308- 313). Dietz explained that whenever there is an obligation to provide a minimum fixed amount of electricity (Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW) over a long period of time and range of weather conditions, a facility must be capable of generating more than the minimum. (*Id.*).

Panda, like any QF developer in the field, was further constrained by the parts commercially available for the plant, particularly turbine generators and their level of pollution emissions. (T. 3 13, 3 17-19). The only equipment configurations available to satisfy both contract requirements and emission standards would have a maximum output of 115 MW at ISO conditions. (T. 322).

It is not our intention to build a facility that sometimes makes 74.9 and other times doesn't make 74.9, because on the days that Florida Power Corp. needs the power, which is sometimes the hottest days of the year, they need to know that 74.9 megawatts is there. They've contracted with us for it. So therefore, we wanted to build a plant that would meet that commitment; and build the smallest one that we possibly could that would still make the 74.9 and still build a plant that would meet the Florida environmental requirements.

(T. 347). Thus, both a "safety factor" of design capacity in order to provide Committed Capacity under all conditions, and emissions constraints drove Panda's design.

Florida's emissions regulations were changed in 1992, and those changes severely

limited the emissions that could be generated by Panda's proposed plant. (T. 312). As the result of those changes, it was uncontradicted that Panda had fewer options in selecting equipment, because only a small number of the generating equipment units available could meet Florida's emission's **requirements**.⁴ In fact, the plant configuration that Panda had originally submitted to Florida Power would not meet Florida's changed emissions requirements. (T. 3 18). Based on considerations of degradation of performance and emissions, Panda ultimately determined that only two turbine equipment models available at the time in the market would meet the emission and performance requirements of the project -- the **ABB11N1** turbine (maximum capacity 115 MW) and the GE Frame 7 (maximum capacity 118 MW). (T. 318- 319). Of these two, only ABB would guarantee a delivery time, and Panda ultimately chose the **ABB11N1**. (T. 319-320).

Panda's design conclusions corresponded to Florida Power's own recommendations on size and emission efficiency to the effect that a plant with maximum capacity in excess of Committed Capacity had to be constructed to ensure compliance with contractually Committed Capacity. That is, until there was a drastic change based on Florida Power's rethinking of its previous business judgment to obtain cogenerated power, In September, 1992, Florida Power recommended to Panda an equipment configuration using two LM 6000 turbines, which resulted in a design capacity of 95 to 100 MW. (T. 392). Ultimately, Panda determined that this LM 6000 turbine configuration would not meet Florida emissions requirements. (T. 3 18). The plant design ultimately chosen by Panda used the smallest available turbine equipment which would assure generation of the Committed Capacity under all conditions, and also meet Florida's emissions requirements. (T . 3 19).

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