IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 88,280

PANDA-KATHLEEN, L.P.

Appellant,

٧.

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION and THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellees.

APPELLEE FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION'S
ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal From a Final Order Of The Florida Public Service Commission

James A. McGee Florida Bar No. 0150483 Jeffrey A. Froeschle Florida Bar No. 0395935 Office of the General Counsel FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION Post Office Box 14042 St. Petersburg, Florida 33733 (813) 866-5786

and

Alan C. Sundberg
Florida Bar No. 079381
Sylvia H. Walbolt
Florida Bar No. 033603
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P. A.
One Progress Plaza

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Panda's contention that the Commission lacked jurisdiction in this case is founded on Panda's incorrect assertion that FPC asked the Commission to "void" or "reform" this Contract. Based on that erroneous premise, Panda relies on cases where, unlike this case, a utility petitioned the state commission to modify its payment obligations under the contract or to terminate an existing contract. The Commission correctly determined that FPC did not request any such relief in this proceeding. Rather, FPC simply sought to enforce the PSC's PURPA rules which are the basis for the PSC's approval of this Contract and are incorporated in it. That is plainly an action the PSC was permitted to take because PURPA expressly provides that OFs are not exemst from state OF rules adopted to implement PURPA.

Thus, contrary to the assertion Panda erroneously urges to this Court, neither PURPA nor the FERC rules implementing PURPA operate to exclusively occupy, and thereby preempt, the area of utility-QF relationships. PURPA, FERC's rules and orders thereunder, controlling Supreme Court precedent, and numerous decisions and orders from other states make that clear. Congress and FERC envisioned a cooperative regulatory environment in which the federal government would prescribe broad guidelines to encourage QF development, while the states would retain responsibility to implement and enforce those guidelines. So long as the state rules do not conflict with FERC's rules -- and Panda has made no assertion that the PSC's PURPA Rules conflict with FERC's rules -- the state is carrying out its legitimate and intended role in the PURPA implementation scheme. That is exactly what the PSC did here, when it enforced its PURPA Rules with respect to this Standard Offer Contract.

On their face, the **PSC's** PURPA Rules limit the availability of a Standard Offer Contract to **a** "qualifying facility less than 75 MW," and they likewise limit the utility's obligation to make capacity payments to the life of the avoided unit, which here was indisputably 20 years. The PSC construed those Rules in a manner that is fully consistent with their plain language and purpose, with prior precedent, and with the law under PURPA. Furthermore, the PSC methodically evaluated the evidence before it, and its factual findings are firmly grounded on competent substantial evidence. The Commission's decision that Panda must comply with the requirements of the **PSC's** Rules for Standard Offer Contracts

has not been shown by Panda to **be "clearly** erroneous," and it should be affirmed by this Court.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE **PSC HAS** JURISDICTION TO ENFORCE ITS PURPA RULES.

A. PURPA Provided For An Ongoing State Enforcement Role.

Congress enacted PURPA in an effort to encourage the development of non-traditional energy sources, and Sections 201 and 210 were specifically designed to remove certain impediments to such efforts. See FERC Order No. 69, Small Power Production and Cogeneration Facilities, Regulations Implementing Section 210 of the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act of 1978, 45 Fed.

Reg. No. 38 at 12211 (Feb. 25, 1980) ("Order No. 69") [A. 11, A]. For example, QFs faced the prospect of being regulated under state laws as an electric utility. Section 210(e)(1) dealt with this concern by permitting the FERC, in its discretion, to issue rules providing QFs with a limited exemption from certain state regulation. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(e)(1). Notably, however, Section 210(e)(3) explicitly prohibited any exemption of QFs from state laws or regulations issued for purposes of implementing PURPA. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(e)(3)(A).

In short, Congress did not provide for federal occupation of the field of QF contracts. PURPA were exempted QFs from some state regulatory burdens, but they were not exempted from all such regulation, and Congress specifically looked to both the states and the federal government to implement the objectives of

PURPA. FERC was instructed to enact regulations that would encourage QF development. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(a). In turn, state regulatory agencies were directed to take appropriate steps to implement PURPA and the FERC's rules. 16 U.S.C. § 824a-3(f)(1).

In enacting its PURPA rules, FERC exempted QFs only from state laws or regulations respecting "[t]he rates of electric utilities[] and . . . the financial and organizational regulation of electric utilities," 18 C.F.R. \$292.602(c)(1), which is often described as the QF's exemption from "utility-type regulation." FERC's Rules expressly provided that this exemption did not apply to rules adopted by states to implement PURPA. 18 C.F.R. \$292.602(c)(2). Instead, the states would retain an active role in construing and enforcing their PURPA rules, and state "oversight will be ongoing" in that regard. [Order No. 69 at 12231, A. 11 at A].

Thus, Panda's contention that the **PSC's** authority **"ended"** with its approval of this Contract [Br. **24]** is plainly **wrong.** Although the PSC could not thereafter change the terms of that Contract or invalidate it through "utility-type regulation" -- which it was not asked to do here -- it does have jurisdiction to enforce the **PSC's** PURPA Rules pursuant to which the Contract was

In fact, Panda itself has previously acceded to the PSC's exercise of on-going jurisdiction over QF contracts, thereby recognizing that the PSC's authority does not "end" upon its approval of the contract. For example, Panda participated, without asserting any claim of lack of jurisdiction, in the PSC's proceeding approving procedures by which FPC can curtail purchases of power under existing QF contracts when required by operational constraints on FPC's system. [See Order No. PSC-95-1133-FOF-EQ, Docket 941101-EQ, A. 10 at E].

authorized in the first instance and which were expressly made a part of the Contract, That is all the PSC was asked to do here and, as its Final Order establishes, that is all it did do.

B. **Supreme** Court **Precedent** Confirms That The Commission's Enforcement Jurisdiction Over Its PURPA Rules Has Not Been **Federally Preempted**.

Any possible doubt as to the ongoing jurisdiction of state regulators to interpret their PURPA rules and to resolve controversies thereunder on a case-by-case basis was affirmatively laid to rest by the United States Supreme Court in FERC v. Mississippi, 456 U.S. 742 (1982). While noting that Congress could have opted to "pre-empt the States completely in the regulation of retail sales by electricity and gas utilities and in the regulation of transactions between such utilities and cogenerators," the Court emphasized that PURPA "does nothing more than pre-empt conflicting state enactments in the traditional way." Id. at 759. The Court also acknowledged that state regulators have broad discretion to determine how best to apply FERC's PURPA rules:

<u>requirements</u> by issuing regulations, <u>by resolvins</u> <u>disputes</u> on a case-by-case basis, or <u>by takins any other action</u> reasonably designed to give effect to **FERC's** rules.

<u>Id</u>. at 751. Summing up the PURPA role of state regulators, the Court added that:

In essence, then, the statute and the implementing regulations simply require the [State] authorities to adjudicate disputes arisins under the statute. Dispute resolution of this kind is the very type of activity customarily engaged in by the [State] Public Service Commission.

Id. at 760.

The Mississippi Court referred by analogy to Testa v. Katt,

330 U.S. 386 (1947), in which a federal price control statute
gave jurisdiction over claims to both state and federal courts.

The state courts were deemed competent to adjudicate those
claims, even though they were called upon to enforce federally—
mandated standards which had become the prevailing policy in
every state. Mississippi at 760. According to the Court, "[t]he
Mississippi Commission has jurisdiction to entertain claims
analogous to those granted by PURPA, and it can satisfy § 210's
requirements simsly by opening its doors to claimants." Id.

Consistent with the Court's holding in Mississippi, the PSC here
simply opened "its doors to claimants" who sought an
interpretation of the PSC's rules under PURPA and the mandated
Standard Offer Contract which expressly incorporated those rules.

c. **FERC's** Articulated Enforcement Policy Defers Matters Arisins Under State PURPA Rules To The States.

Consistent with the Supreme Court's recognition in Mississippi that state regulatory bodies are to open their doors to adjudicate PURPA claims, FERC has long encouraged such bodies to take jurisdiction of such disputes. In 1983, FERC issued a policy statement in which it expressed an overtly non-preemptive view with respect to PURPA enforcement issues that might arise after the initial implementation of PURPA rules, and it specifically directed parties to initiate enforcement proceedings in state fora, rather than in federal regulatory and judicial fora. Policy Statement Regarding the Commission's Enforcement

Role Under Section 210 of the Public Utility Regulatory Policy Act of 1978, 23 FERC \P 61,304 (1983) (the "Policy Statement").

D. The PSC Has Jurisdiction Under State Law To Interpret And Enforce Its PURPA Rules.

In accordance with PURPA and FERC's rules thereunder, the Florida Legislature directed that electric utilities "shall purchase, in accordance with applicable law, all electricity offered for sale by such cogenerator . . . " § 366.851, Fla. Stat. (1993). The Legislature further provided that "[t]he [PSC] shall establish guidelines relating to the purchase of power or energy by public utilities from cogenerators." Id. Consistent with this statutory directive, the PSC adopted relevant portions of FERC's PURPA rules, and it further promulgated Rules 25-17.080 through 25-17.091 [A. 12], providing "two ways for a utility to purchase QF energy and capacity; by means of a standard offer contract, or an individually negotiated power purchase contract."

[Order No. 95-0210 at 8-9; A. 10 at D; Order No. PSC **95-0209-FOF-** EQ, p. 258, A. 10 at C].

Panda elected to enter into a Standard Offer Contract, with the terms mandated by the PSC's PURPA's rules, rather than negotiate with FPC with respect to the terms of a purchase contract. These two types of contracts are, however, treated Very differently" under the PSC's rules [Order No. 95-0210 at 9, A. 10 at D], and Panda's contention that there is no difference between the PSC's jurisdiction over them was correctly rejected by the Commission.

As the Commission emphasized in denying Panda's motion to dismiss, Standard Offer Contracts are "state-controlled" contracts which must be filed in PSC-approved tariffs and must conform to the "extensive guidelines" set forth in the PSC's rules adopted pursuant to PURPA. [Order at 5, 8, A. 83. Those rules provide the means by which small QFs can sell energy to utilities without the need to negotiate a contract. Significantly, this Court expressly relied on the difference in these contracts when it affirmed the PSC's decision "to remove regulatory out clauses from standard offer contracts with small QFs" while allowing them in negotiated contracts. Florida Power & Lisht Co. V. Beard, 626 So. 2d 660, 663 (Fla. 1993).

Given their legal status as filed tariffs and the fact that they are "state-controlled" contracts, it is clear that the PSC has jurisdiction to construe and enforce them. The cogenerators contesting jurisdiction in Docket No. 940771-EQ specifically distinguished standard offer contracts from negotiated contracts

on this very ground, asserting that "standard offer contracts are embodied in utility tariffs over which the [PSC] is given specific jurisdiction in § 366.051, Florida Statutes." [See A. 737 at 13].

The Commission agreed that this was a critical distinction, observing that "[w]hile the Commission controls the provisions of standard offer contracts, we do not exercise similar control over the provisions of negotiated contracts." [Order No. 95-0209, p. 8, A. 10 at C].

As can be seen from its face, then, Panda's assertion that Order No. 95-0209 establishes that the Commission lacks jurisdiction in this proceeding [Br. 21, 28] is simply not true. That order only dealt with the PSC's jurisdiction to construe certain terms of a negotiated contract -- terms it did not mandate or purport to control. In so ruling, the PSC expressly distinguished that proceeding from one -- as here -- involving a Standard Offer Contract. As such, that order in no way supports Panda's claim here, but rather is completely consistent with the Commission's order denying Panda's motion to dismiss, as well as with its other orders asserting jurisdiction over state-controlled Standard Offer Contracts.

Indeed, this Court's own prior precedents make it clear that the legal effect of the control the PSC exercises over Standard Offer Contracts is to render them "order[s] of the Commission, binding as such upon the parties." See City Gas Co. v, Peoples Gas System, Inc., 182 So. 2d 429, 436 (Fla. 1965); Public Service Com'n v. Fuller, 551 So. 2d 1210, 1212 (Fla. 1989). Public

Service Com'n v. Fuller is of particular significance here since this Court determined there that the Commission had jurisdiction to resolve a controversy over the provisions in a territorial agreement approved by the Commission precisely because "the agreement hardl no existence apart from the PSC order approving it " Id. at 1212.

Just as in <u>Fuller</u>, a Standard Offer Contract has no existence apart from the PSC order approving it. Unlike the negotiated contracts that the Commission declined to address in Order No. 95-0209, Standard Offer Contracts exist <u>only</u> because the PSC defines their terms, mandates that utilities must file them as tariffs for PSC approval and, once approved, requires utilities to abide by their terms with any QF that accepts them. As a result, the PSC has the authority to say what this "state-controlled" Contract means, and to enforce its own rules and orders authorizing it.

The Commission long ago declared, in words directly applicable here, that it "certainly has jurisdiction to construe its own [PURPA] [r]ules at the request of a regulated utility to which the rules apply." [PSC Order No. 14207, p. 9, Docket No. 840438-EI, issued March 21, 1985, A 10 at A]. Panda's own argument graphically illustrates that the Commission was squarely presented here with the need to construe and enforce its PURPA rules with respect to its prior approval of this Standard Offer Contract.

For example, Panda asserts that "the Commission approved a contract whose terms required Panda to provide and Florida Power

to purchase a Committed Capacity of 74.9 MW for thirty years."

[Br. 27). But the Commission itself has declared that it did not approve a contract with those terms and that its PURPA rules, pursuant to which this Contract was approved, required FPC to purchase power from a "qualifying facility of less than 75 MW" and to make capacity payments for only the life of the avoided unit. Certainly, the Commission has jurisdiction to determine the correctness of Panda's construction of the Commission's order approving the Contract -- an order that was required for the Contract to be legally efficacious in the first place.

Panda also argues that nothing in PURPA "recognizes, or even mentions, a distinction between a negotiated contract or a standard offer contract." [Br. 29]. But nothing in PURPA or the FERC's rules prohibits a state regulatory agency from providing for these different types of contracts, and hence the PSC was fully authorized to adopt its Standard Offer Rules. Having voluntarily chosen the Standard Offer option, Panda cannot collaterally challenge those Rules at this late date.

In sum, and consistent with its prior orders, the Commission expressly ruled that it had jurisdiction to resolve the issues presented in this proceeding with respect to its Rules adopted pursuant to PURPA and § 366.051, Fla. Stat. (1993). "Commission orders come to the Court 'clothed with the statutory presumption that they have been made within the Commission's jurisdiction and powers' . . ." Florida Interexchanae Carriers Assoc., 624

So.2d at 250-51. That presumption should be given full force and

effect with respect to the **PSC's** interpretation of Section 366.051, which it is charged with enforcing.

E. The Relevant Case Law Confirms the **PSC's** Jurisdiction To Enforce **Its** PURPA Rules.

It is clear that "Congress' enactment of a provision defining the pre-emptive reach of a statute implies that matters beyond that reach are not preempted." Cisollone v. Liqsett

Grouw, Inc., 112 S.Ct. 2608, 2618 (1992). In interpreting such clauses, "the wresumption against preemption mandates courts to read such a clause narrowly." Wright v. Dow Chemical. U.S.A.,

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